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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Board of Directors 

Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation 

and affiliates (the System), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 

2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the 

years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and 

maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 

conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 

and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 

Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we 

express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation and affiliates as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, 

and the changes in their net assets and their cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with 

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
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Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in note 1(u) to the consolidated financial statements, in 2019 the System adopted new accounting 

guidance in connection with its implementation of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards 

Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). Our opinion is not modified with 

respect to this matter. 

Other Matter 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole. The accompanying 2019 consolidating supplementary information included in schedules 1 and 2 is 

presented for purposes of additional analysis, and is not a required part of the consolidated financial 

statements. The accompanying supplementary financial responsibility information in schedule 3 as of and for 

the year ended December 31, 2019 is presented for purposes of additional analysis, as required by the US 

Department of Education, and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information 

is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and 

other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 

auditing procedures applied in the audits of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional 

procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and 

other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements 

themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to 

the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 28, 2020, 

except as to note 22 and our report on the financial responsibility schedule, which are as of September 22, 

2020, on our consideration of the System’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 

compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 

The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 

compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial 

reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards in considering the System’s internal control over financial reporting and 

compliance. 

Atlanta, Georgia 

April 28, 2020, except as to note 22 and  

our report on the financial responsibility schedule, which are as of 

September 22, 2020. 



GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2019 and 2018

(In thousands)

Assets 2019 2018

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 222,378 181,150

Patient accounts receivable, net 163,840 155,081

Grants receivable, net 15,133 18,983

Insurance proceeds receivable 10,021 —

Current portion of pledges receivable 16,493 19,239

Other current assets 79,818 59,725

Total current assets 507,683 434,178

Assets limited as to use 49,304 60,189

Property and equipment, net 419,124 413,900

Notes receivable, new market tax credit 37,024 37,024

Beneficial interest in net assets held by others 24,751 21,809

Pledges receivable, net, excluding current portion 10,399 12,537

Other assets 1,872 2,111

Total assets $ 1,050,157 981,748

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities:

Current portion of capital lease obligations $ 950 924

Accounts payable 45,602 41,335

Current portion of self-insurance reserves 12,462 13,008

Due to third-party payors, net 25,491 14,914

Due to Medical Schools 26,313 19,680

Other accrued expenses 92,719 82,356

Total current liabilities 203,537 172,217

Capital lease obligations, excluding current portion 32,484 33,434

Notes payable, net, new market tax credit 51,662 51,494

Self-insurance reserves, excluding current portion 39,897 41,219

Accrued postretirement benefit cost 1,358 2,203

Other long-term liabilities 7,336 7,243

Total liabilities 336,274 307,810

Net assets:

Without donor restrictions 629,055 578,089

With donor restrictions 84,828 95,849

Total net assets 713,883 673,938

Commitments and contingencies

Total liabilities and net assets $ 1,050,157 981,748

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(In thousands)

2019 2018

Revenue, gains, and other support:

Net patient service revenue $ 1,156,566 1,074,782

Contributions from Fulton and DeKalb Counties 55,435 55,435

Grant revenue 64,170 63,212

Other revenue 74,257 67,543

Total revenue, gains, and other support 1,350,428 1,260,972

Operating expenses:

Salaries and benefits 583,724 543,464

Supplies and other expenses 679,202 631,899

Insurance proceeds from flood losses (3,244) —

Interest 4,130 4,076

Depreciation and amortization 61,496 56,954

Total operating expenses 1,325,308 1,236,393

Operating income 25,120 24,579

Nonoperating gains (losses), net:

Investment income, net 3,873 2,795

Net periodic postretirement benefit credit 1,144 2,363

New market tax credit, net (445) (283) 

Other 84 205

Total nonoperating gains, net 4,656 5,080

Revenue, gains, and other support in excess of

expenses and losses 29,776 29,659

Accrued postretirement benefit cost adjustments (535) (1,414) 

Net assets released from restriction used for the purchase of

property and equipment 18,975 4,966

Contributions and other 2,750 6

Change in net assets without donor restrictions $ 50,966 33,217

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets

Years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(In thousands)

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Net assets, December 31, 2017 $ 544,872 71,765 616,637

Revenue, gains, and other support in excess

of expenses and losses 29,659 — 29,659

Accrued postretirement benefit cost

adjustments (1,414) — (1,414) 

Net assets released from restriction used

for purchase of property and equipment 4,966 (4,966) —

Net assets released from restriction used

for operations — (4,534) (4,534) 

Net change in beneficial interest in net

assets held by others — 1,448 1,448

Contributions and other 6 32,136 32,142

Change in net assets 33,217 24,084 57,301

Net assets, December 31, 2018 578,089 95,849 673,938

Revenue, gains, and other support in excess

of expenses and losses 29,776 — 29,776

Accrued postretirement benefit cost

adjustments (535) — (535) 

Net assets released from restriction used

for purchase of property and equipment 18,975 (18,975) —

Net assets released from restriction used

for operations — (7,987) (7,987) 

Net change in beneficial interest in net

assets held by others — 2,942 2,942

Contributions and other 2,750 12,999 15,749

Change in net assets 50,966 (11,021) 39,945

Net assets, December 31, 2019 $ 629,055 84,828 713,883

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(In thousands)

2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets $ 39,945 57,301

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided by operating

activities:

Depreciation and amortization 61,496 56,954

Gain on asset disposal (83) (81) 

Amortization of debt issuance costs 168 168

Accrued postretirement benefit cost adjustments 535 1,414

Net change in beneficial interest in net assets held by others (2,942) (1,448) 

Contributions used for the purchase of property and equipment (4,192) (25,261) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Patient accounts receivable (8,759) (41,650) 

Grants and pledges receivable 8,734 (19,668) 

Insurance proceeds receivable (10,021) —

Other current assets (20,093) (4,497) 

Other assets 232 (449) 

Accounts payable, due to Medical Schools, and other accrued expenses and

liabilities 18,419 (10,455) 

Due to third-party payors, net 10,577 816

Accrued postretirement benefit cost (1,385) (2,473) 

Self-insurance reserves (1,868) 7,192

Net cash provided by operating activities 90,763 17,863

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property and equipment (63,688) (77,222) 

Change in assets limited as to use 8,307 (7,961) 

Net cash used in investing activities (55,381) (85,183) 

Cash flows from financing activities:

Principal repayments under capital lease obligations (924) (865) 

Contributions used for the purchase of property and equipment 4,192 25,261

Net cash provided by financing activities 3,268 24,396

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 38,650 (42,924) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 194,385 237,309

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 233,035 194,385

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 222,378 181,150

Cash funds in assets limited as to use 10,657 13,235

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 233,035 194,385

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest $ 4,344 4,287

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing activities:

Accrued expenses for additions to property and equipment $ 11,647 8,705

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

7 (Continued) 

(1) Organization, Business, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation (the System) is a 501(c) (3) not-for-profit health system formed on 

March 17, 2008, which subsequently entered into a Lease and Transfer Agreement (the Agreement) 

effective June 1, 2008 with The Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority (the Authority). The System, located in 

Atlanta, Georgia, comprises Grady Memorial Hospital (the largest teaching hospital in the state), Hughes 

Spalding Children’s Hospital (Hughes Spalding), five free-standing primary care clinics, and other 

significant healthcare facilities and services consistent with an integrated healthcare delivery and medical 

education system serving a major metropolitan area. The System has 953 licensed beds and is the 

principal safety-net healthcare provider for the Atlanta metropolitan area. In addition, the System maintains 

the primary Level I trauma center for the region. 

The key terms and conditions associated with the Agreement are as follows: 

• The System makes monthly lease payments to the Authority, totaling $2.5 million in the initial year of

the Agreement, and increasing each year by an amount generally measured by inflation in the

published Consumer Price Index (CPI), not to exceed 3%, for an initial term of 40 years.

• The System assumed the liabilities of the Authority related to its previous operation of the former Grady

Memorial Hospital and related facilities.

• In exchange for the lease payments and assumption of liabilities, the Authority transferred to the

System all of the Authority’s right, title, and interest in the operating assets of Grady Memorial Hospital

and provided to the System the right to use its related facilities.

• The System is the agent for the Authority with respect to pre-existing Operating Agreements among the

Authority, Fulton County, and DeKalb County. The Operating Agreements define the obligations of the

Authority with respect to (principally) the provision of indigent care to the citizens of Fulton and DeKalb

Counties (the Counties), in exchange for related ongoing funding that the Counties provide. The

Authority is obligated to remit directly to the System all such funds the Authority receives from the

Counties.

Certain assets and obligations of the Authority were excluded from the Agreement. In particular, the 

Authority retained certain assets and obligations related to (a) its sponsorship of The Fulton-DeKalb 

Hospital Authority Employee Pension Plan (the Plan – a frozen plan effective May 19, 2008) and 

(b) pre-existing Authority hospital revenue bond issues. 

The Authority has defined obligations within the Agreement related to how it will apply the lease payments 

to its own obligations. A portion of the lease payments is to be applied to the Authority’s ongoing funding of 

the Plan, and the Agreement requires that the System fund any shortfall between required Plan funding 

and available funds from the lease payments. Should there be an excess of lease payments over the 

Authority’s bona fide operating costs and pension obligations, such excess must be returned to the System. 

The Authority may not carry over excess funds from year to year. No such funds were received by the 

System for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 



GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

8 (Continued) 

The System’s acquisition of assets and assumption of liabilities under the Agreement was accounted for as 

a purchase. The System has recognized a capital lease obligation for the lease payments (excluding any 

future CPI adjustments), which were discounted at 7.24%, representing management’s best estimate of a 

fair value rate that might be available to the System on an unenhanced credit basis. Other acquired assets 

and assumed liabilities were recognized at their respective estimated fair values. 

Because any future funding obligations of the System for the Plan are currently indeterminable, those 

payments (if any) are accounted for on a “pay-as-you-go” basis and recognized currently in expense as 

invoiced from the Authority. During each of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the System 

recognized approximately $3.8 million in expense associated with its pension-funding obligation as 

described herein. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, all such pension-funding amounts were fully settled. 

The Agreement subjects the System to a number of commercially typical covenants, principally related to 

continuance of its mission as a safety-net hospital system, maintenance of facilities, and financial and other 

reporting, including the System’s obligation to deliver audited financial statements within 120 days of 

year-end. 

The significant accounting policies used by the System in preparing and presenting its consolidated 

financial statements are as follows: 

(a) Principles of Consolidation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the System include the accounts of Grady 

Memorial Hospital, Hughes Spalding, the Henry W. Grady Memorial Foundation, Inc. (the Foundation), 

Grady Health Resources, Inc. (GHRI), Grady WIC, Inc. (GWIC), and Reliant Emergency Specialties, 

Inc. (Reliant). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. 

(b) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles requires that management make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 

of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the determination of contractual 

allowances, explicit and implicit price concessions, allowances for uncollectible pledges, reserves for 

general and professional liability claims, third-party payor settlements, and the actuarially determined 

benefit liability related to the System’s postretirement benefit plan. 

In addition, laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are extremely 

complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that 

recorded estimates related to these programs will change by a material amount in the near term. 



GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

9 (Continued) 

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits with banks, and investments in highly 

liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less, excluding amounts limited as to 

use. The System maintains its cash and cash equivalents in domestic bank deposit accounts. The 

System invests its cash and cash equivalents with high-credit quality federally insured institutions. 

Cash and cash equivalent balances with any one institution may be in excess of federally insured 

limits. The System has not realized any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any 

significant credit risk. 

(d) Assets Limited as to Use and Investment Income 

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt 

securities are measured at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Investment 

income items (including interest and dividends) are included in revenue, gains, and other support in 

excess of expenses and losses unless the investment income has donor restrictions. 

Assets limited as to use include assets internally designated for capital acquisition and other uses, 

assets held by trustee under escrow agreements, an insurance guaranty trust fund, and funds limited 

by donors for specific purposes. 

(e) Inventories 

Inventories, consisting principally of medical supplies and pharmaceuticals, are stated at the lower of 

cost (first-in, first-out method) or net realizable value. 

(f) Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment transferred to the System under the terms of the Agreement are stated at fair 

value at the date of transfer. Property and equipment acquired subsequently are stated at cost, with the 

exception of donated items, which are stated at fair value at the date of donation. Equipment held 

under capital lease obligations is initially recorded at the lower of estimated fair value or the present 

value of minimum lease payments. Provisions for depreciation are computed using the straight-line 

method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. Equipment held under capital lease 

obligations is amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life or 

the lease term, and such amortization is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying 

consolidated statements of operations. 

A summary of asset classes and related ranges of estimated depreciable lives is as follows: 

Land improvements 3–8 years

Buildings and improvements 5–40 years

Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 3–20 years

Computer hardware and software 3–10 years



GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

10 (Continued) 

(g) Notes Receivable, New Market Tax Credit 

Notes receivable, new market tax credit relates to two New Market Tax Credit (NMTC) Program 

financing arrangements established during 2015 and 2017 (as described in note 6) that exceed 

one year and bear interest at a market rate based on the borrowers’ credit quality and are recorded at 

face value. Interest is recognized over the life of the notes. The System does not require collateral for 

the notes and does not intend to sell these receivables. 

An allowance for credit losses is determined on an individual note basis if it is probable that the System 

will not collect all principal and interest contractually due. The System considers the borrowers’ 

historical payment patterns, credit ratings as published by credit rating agencies, and general and 

industry-specific economic factors in determining probability of default. Impairment is measured based 

on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the notes’ effective interest rates. The 

System does not accrue interest when a note is considered impaired. When ultimate collectability of the 

principal balance of an impaired note is in doubt, all related cash receipts are applied to reduce the 

principal amount of such notes until the principal has been recovered and are recognized as interest 

income thereafter. Impairment losses are charged against the allowance and increases in the 

allowance are charged to bad debt expense. Notes are written off against the allowance when all 

possible means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. 

The System resumes accrual of interest when it is probable that the System will collect the remaining 

principal and interest of an impaired note. The notes receivable have no allowance for doubtful 

accounts as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, which is the System’s best estimate of the amount of 

credit losses. 

(h) Donor Restricted Net Assets 

Donor restricted net assets are those whose use by the System is restricted by the donor to a specific 

time period or purpose. When a donor restriction expires, these net assets are reclassified to net 

assets without donor restrictions and are reported in the consolidated statement of operations as net 

assets released from restrictions. Donor restricted net assets can also be restricted by donors to be 

maintained in perpetuity. These net assets consist primarily of the System’s beneficial interest in 

indigent care and nursing scholarship funds held by the Authority. All of the earnings of the trust are 

donor-restricted for the System’s use in providing indigent and charity care. 

(i) Patient Care Service Revenue 

The System has adopted Accounting Standards Update 2014-09: Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers (Topic 606) (ASU 2014-09) which requires revenue to be recognized when promised goods 

and services are transferred to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which the System 

expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are reported at estimated 

net realizable value due from patients, third-party payors (including health insurers and government 

programs), and others and include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to 

settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Retroactive adjustments are considered in the 

recognition of revenue on an estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered, and such 

amounts are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known or as years are no longer 

subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations. 

(j) Charity Care 

The System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under its financial assistance policies at 

amounts less than its established rates. Because the System does not pursue collection of amounts 

determined to qualify as charity care, they are not reported as revenue. 



GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

11 (Continued) 

(k) Revenue, Gains, and Other Support in Excess of Expenses and Losses 

The accompanying consolidated statements of operations include revenue, gains, and other support in 

excess of expenses and losses. Changes in net assets without donor restrictions, which are excluded 

from revenue, gains, and other support in excess of expenses and losses (to the extent applicable in 

any particular year), include certain postretirement benefit plan accounting adjustments, 

donor-restricted contributions, and net assets released from restrictions used for purchase of property 

and equipment. 

For purposes of presentation, transactions deemed by management to be ongoing, significant, or 

central to the provision of healthcare services are reported as revenue and expenses. Peripheral or 

incidental transactions are reported as nonoperating gains and losses. 

(l) Promises to Give and Donor Restricted Gifts 

Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets to the System are reported at fair value at the 

date the promise is received. Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give are 

reported at fair value at the date the underlying condition is satisfied by the System or the date the 

donor’s intention to give becomes a promise to give. Gifts are reported as donor restricted support if 

they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor 

restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is 

accomplished, these net assets are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and are 

reported in the consolidated statements of operations as net assets released from restrictions. 

Gifts of long-lived assets such as property and equipment are excluded from revenue, gains, and other 

support in excess of expenses and losses and are reported without restriction unless explicit donor 

stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit 

restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be 

used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as donor restricted support. Absent explicit donor 

stipulations about how long those long-lived assets must be maintained, expirations of donor 

restrictions are reported when the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in service. 

The System applies Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification 

(ASC) 958-205-45, Reporting of Endowment Funds (ASC 958-205-45). ASC 958-205-45 provides 

guidance on the net asset classification of donor-restricted endowment funds for a not-for-profit 

organization that is subject to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 

Funds Act of 2006, and serves to improve disclosures about an organization’s endowment funds (both 

donor restricted and board designated). 

The System has recorded a beneficial interest in donor-restricted endowment funds (note 16(b)) held 

by the Authority and does not maintain any board-designated or other endowments. Net changes in the 

estimated fair value of beneficial interest in net assets held by the Authority are reflected as increases 

or decreases to net assets with donor restrictions in the accompanying consolidated statements of 

changes in net assets. The System’s Board has interpreted Georgia’s State Prudent Management of 

Institutional Funds Act as requiring the preservation of the fair value of an original donor-restricted 

endowment gift as of the gift date, absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. To the extent that 

income from any donor-restricted endowment fund is itself restricted to specific donor-directed 

purposes, such income is accounted for within donor restricted net assets until expended in 

accordance with the donor’s wishes. Should additional donor-restricted endowments be received, the 

System would oversee individual donor-restricted endowments to ensure that the fair value of the 

original gift is preserved. 



GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

12 (Continued) 

(m) Asset Retirement Obligations 

The System recognizes a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements in the period 

incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be made. When the liability is 

initially recorded, the System capitalizes the cost of the asset retirement obligation by increasing the 

carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability (a component of long-term 

liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets) is accreted to its present value each 

period, and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement obligation is depreciated over the useful 

life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any difference between the cost to settle the 

asset retirement obligation and the recorded liability is recognized as a gain or loss in the consolidated 

statements of operations. 

(n) Long-lived Assets 

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and purchased intangibles subject to amortization, 

are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group 

to be tested for possible impairment, the System first compares undiscounted future cash flows 

expected to be generated by that asset or asset group to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of 

the long-lived asset is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is 

recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Fair value is determined 

through various valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values, 

and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary. Assets to be disposed of are 

separately presented in the consolidated balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying 

amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a 

disposal group classified as held-for-sale are presented separately in the appropriate asset-and-liability 

sections of the consolidated balance sheet. In the period in which the disposal group is sold or 

classified as held-for-sale, the results of its operations are classified as discontinued operations in the 

consolidated statement of operations. 

(o) Income Taxes 

The System has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as exempt from federal income tax 

under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(a) as an organization described in Section 501(c) (3), and 

therefore, related income is generally not subject to federal or state income taxes. The Foundation has 

been similarly recognized. GHRI and GWIC are exempt from federal income tax under Internal 

Revenue Code Section 501(a) as organizations described in Section 501(c) (2). Reliant is a taxable 

for-profit entity and is subject to federal and state income taxes; however, the tax accounts for this 

entity are nominal in fiscal years 2019 and 2018. 

The System applies FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes (ASC 740), which addresses the accounting for 

uncertain income tax positions. ASC 740 provides guidance on when tax positions are recognized in an 

entity’s financial statements and how the values of these positions are determined. There is no impact 

on the System’s consolidated financial statements as a result of applying ASC 740. 

(p) Postretirement Benefit Plan 

The System applies the recognition and disclosure provisions of FASB ASC Topic 715, 

Compensation – Retirement Benefits (ASC 715). ASC 715 requires that the System recognize the 

unfunded status of its postretirement benefit plan in its consolidated balance sheet. ASC 715 also 

requires measurement of plan assets and benefit obligations as of the System’s fiscal year-end. 
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The System records annual amounts relating to its postretirement benefit plan based on calculations 

that incorporate various actuarial and other assumptions, including discount rates, mortality, assumed 

rates of return, turnover rates, and healthcare cost trend rates. The System reviews its assumptions on 

an annual basis and makes modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when it 

is appropriate to do so. The effect of modifications to those assumptions is recorded as a change in net 

assets without donor restrictions and are amortized to net periodic cost (credit) over future periods 

using the corridor method. The System believes that the assumptions utilized in recording its 

obligations under its postretirement benefit plan are reasonable based on its experience and market 

conditions. 

Net periodic costs are recognized as employees render the services necessary to earn the 

postretirement benefits. 

(q) Commitments and Contingencies 

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and 

other sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be 

reasonably estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as 

incurred. 

(r) Flood Event 

On December 7, 2019, a twenty-four inch water pipe burst between Grady Memorial Hospital’s sixth 

and seventh floors. The resulting water flow was contained without any harm to patients but not before 

substantial water and structural damage occurred. This flood event damaged six nursing units on three 

floors and affected many other floors below as well. Consequently, the Hospital lost the use of 220 

patient beds and had to move patients to other facilities for their care. Since December 2019, many 

service area volumes at the Hospital are reduced and are expected to return in late 2020 when the 

damaged areas have been repaired and renovated. 

As of December 31, 2019, the System has recorded incurred losses of $3.2 million and a loss on 

impaired assets of $9.3 million related to the flood event. The incurred losses are included in operating 

expenses in the accompanying 2019 consolidated statement of operations, and the loss on impaired 

assets is included in non-operating gains (losses) in the accompanying 2019 consolidated statement of 

operations. The System has concluded that insurance recoveries for the full amount of incurred losses 

and loss on impaired assets are probable and reasonably estimated. The System received $2.5 million 

in proceeds from insurance recoveries in December 2019 and recorded a receivable for insurance 

recoveries totaling $10.0 million as of December 31, 2019. Of the amounts received and receivable, 

$3.2 million is presented as an offset to 2019 operating expenses and $9.3 million is presented as an 

offset to the loss on impaired assets in other non-operating revenue gains (losses). 

In addition to actual losses incurred, the amount of business interruption loss incurred for the year 

ended December 31, 2019 is estimated to be approximately $17.5 million. Insurance recoveries related 

to business interruption loss will be recognized when all the contingencies related to this event have 

been resolved. 

(s) Reclassifications 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2018 consolidated financial statements to conform to 

the 2019 presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on the results of operations, changes in 

net assets, or cash flows in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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(t) Subsequent Events 

During the fourth quarter of 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) surfaced. The spread of 

COVID-19 around the world and in the U.S. during the first quarter of 2020 has caused significant 

volatility in the global financial markets, including those in the U.S. There is continued uncertainty as to 

the breadth and duration of this pandemic and the resultant market disruption. The System is currently 

evaluating the impact on its operations and financial condition of potential adverse effects specific to 

the System, including reduced normal patient volumes, capacity constraint and resource inefficiencies 

due to potential surge of COVID-19 patients, unfavorable payor reimbursement patterns and payor mix, 

and market-driven downward valuation of equity securities, among others. 

On March 27, 2020, H.R. 748, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, “the CARES 

Act”, was signed into legislation. Funding opportunities for healthcare providers under the CARES Act 

include the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund to be distributed to eligible healthcare 

providers, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Medicare Accelerated/Advanced Payment 

funding to accelerate three to six months of Medicare payments to eligible healthcare providers, and 

the Commercial Insurance/FEMA Public Assistance Program: Emergency Protective Measures for 

reimbursement for eligible emergency costs incurred. In addition to these provisions, the CARES Act 

also includes various other cash flow enhancement measures such as payroll tax deferrals and 

employee retention credits, among others. The System has and will continue to consider the provisions 

of the CARES Act to utilize available governmental funds to offset the immediate effects of the COVID-

19 healthcare crisis. 

The System has evaluated subsequent events through April 28, 2020, the date the consolidated 

financial statements were available to be issued, and determined that there are no additional items to 

disclose. 

(u) Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

The FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers, in May 2014. ASU 2014-09 requires an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of 

promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 

entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity should also disclose 

sufficient quantitative and qualitative information to enable users of financial statements to understand 

the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with 

customers. As a result, amounts previously classified as the provision for doubtful accounts in the 2018 

consolidated statement of operations are now reflected as implicit price concessions and therefore 

included as a reduction to net patient service revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 

2018, the System recorded approximately $679.4 million and $367.7 million, respectively, of implicit 

price concessions as a direct reduction of patient care service revenue that would have been recorded 

as provision for doubtful accounts prior to the adoption of ASC 606. For the years ended December 31, 

2019 and 2018, the System recorded approximately $235.0 million and $71.3 million, respectively, as a 

direct reduction of patient accounts receivable that would have been reflected as allowance for doubtful 

accounts prior to the adoption of ASC 606. ASC 606 also requires expanded disclosures regarding the 

System’s revenue recognition policies and significant judgments employed in the determination of 

revenue. The System adopted ASC 606 with a retrospective approach in 2019. Other than these 

changes in presentation and disclosure, the adoption of ASC 606 did not have a material impact on the 

accompanying consolidated balance sheets or statements of operations and changes in net assets for 

the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
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In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial 

Assets and Liabilities (ASU 2016-01). ASU 2016-01 addresses certain aspects of recognition, 

measurement, presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. The ASU is effective for 

not-for-profit entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption restricted 

to certain provisions and within certain time periods. Under the ASU, not-for-profit and private entities 

are no longer required to disclose fair value information concerning financial instruments measured at 

amortized cost such as long-term debt. This provision of ASU 2016-01 may be early adopted for 

financial statements which have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. The System early 

adopted this provision of ASU 2016-01 as of December 31, 2015. The implementation of the other 

provisions of ASU 2016-01 during fiscal year 2019 had no impact to the consolidated financial 

statements and related notes. 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (ASU 2016-02). The 

amendments in ASU 2016-02 create FASB ASC Topic 842, Leases, and supersede the requirements 

in ASC Topic 840, Leases. ASU 2016-02 requires the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities 

by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under ASC Topic 840. Under the guidance of 

ASU 2016-02, a lessee should recognize in the balance sheet a liability to make lease payments (lease 

liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. 

The accounting applied by a lessor under ASU 2016-02 is largely unchanged from that applied under 

ASC Topic 840. In July 2019, ASU 2016-02 was delayed by FASB and is now effective for all 

non-public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The System will 

implement the provisions of ASU 2016-02 during fiscal year 2020. The System has not yet determined 

the impact of the new standard on its current policies for lessee accounting. The System currently 

expects ASU 2016-02 to add a right-of-use asset and a related lease liability to the consolidated 

balance sheet beginning in fiscal year 2020 in line with the overall lease commitments disclosed in note 

13 based on the System’s evaluation of the standard to-date. Management continues to evaluate the 

effects the standard will have on the consolidated financial statements and management’s current 

estimate could materially change at time of adoption. 

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-14, Presentation of Financial Statements of 

Not-for-Profit Entities (ASU 2016-14). ASU 2016-14 (1) reduces the number of net asset classes 

presented from three to two; (2) requires the presentation of expenses by functional and natural 

classification in one location; and (3) requires quantitative and qualitative disclosures about liquidity 

and availability of financial assets. The ASU is effective for annual financial statements issued for fiscal 

years beginning after December 15, 2017. The System implemented the provisions of ASU 2016-14 

during fiscal year 2018 on a retrospective basis. 

In August 2016, the FASB issued No. ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain 

Cash Receipts and Cash Payments – a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force 

(ASU 2016-15). ASU 2016-15 amends ASC 230, Statement of Cash Flows, to add or clarify guidance 

on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in the statement of cash flows with the 

intent of reducing diversity in practice with respect to eight types of cash flows. ASU 2016-15 is 

effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted and entities 

must apply the guidance retrospectively to all periods presented. The System implemented 

ASU 2016-15 for its fiscal year beginning January 1, 2019. The System’s adoption of ASU 2016-15 did 

not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
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In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): 

Restricted Cash (ASU 2016-18), which requires companies to present amounts generally described as 

restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in cash and cash equivalents on the statement of cash 

flows. Therefore, amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents 

should be included in cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning of period and end of 

period total amounts shown on the consolidated statement of cash flows. If cash and cash equivalents 

are presented in more than one line item on the consolidated balance sheet, the amounts and 

corresponding line items must be disclosed and reconciled to the total cash and cash equivalents 

shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows, either on the face of the consolidated statement of 

cash flows or in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The System implemented 

ASU 2016-18 for its fiscal year beginning January 1, 2019 and applied retrospective application to 

fiscal year beginning January 1, 2018. The System’s adoption of ASU 2016-18 did not have a material 

effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-07, Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic 

Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost (ASU 2017-07), which requires entities to 

present the service cost component of net benefit cost in the income statement line items where they 

report compensation cost, and all other components of net benefit cost in the income statement 

separately from the service cost component and outside of operating income, if this subtotal is 

presented. Additionally, the service cost component will be the only component that can be capitalized. 

ASU 2017-07 is effective in annual periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. The 

standard requires retrospective application for the amendments related to the presentation of the 

service cost component and other components of net benefit cost, and prospective application for the 

amendments related to the capitalization requirements for the service cost components of net benefit 

cost. The System implemented ASU 2017-07 for its fiscal year beginning January 1, 2019. The 

System’s adoption of ASU 2017-07 did not have a material effect on the consolidated financial 

statements. 

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958-605) Clarifying the 

Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made (ASU 2018-08) to further 

improve the scope and the accounting guidance for revenue recognition, to assist entities 

distinguishing between contributions (non-reciprocal) and exchange transactions (reciprocal) and to 

determine whether a contribution is conditional. The System implemented ASU 2018-08 for its fiscal 

year beginning January 1, 2019. The System’s adoption of ASU 2018-08 did not have a material effect 

on the consolidated financial statements. 

In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-06, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), 

Business Combinations (Topic 805), and Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) Extending the Private 

Company Accounting Alternatives on Goodwill and Certain Identifiable Intangible Assets to 

Not-for-Profit Entities (ASU 2019-06), which provides not-for-profit entities an open-ended effective 

date and unconditional one-time election to adopt the private company alternatives from Topic 350 and 

Topic 805. Topic 350 provides that an entity should amortize goodwill on a straight-line basis over 

10 years, or less, if applicable. Accounting policy election is required to test goodwill for impairment at 

the entity or reporting unit level and requires testing for impairment when a triggering event occurs. 

Topic 805 requires customer related intangible assets that are not capable of being sold or licensed 

independently from the other assets of a business and all noncompetition agreements be amortized 

consistent with the period of goodwill amortization. The ASU requires election of Topic 350 if Topic 805 

is elected. Topic 350 may be adopted without adoption of Topic 805. The System has not elected to 

apply the provisions of the ASU at this time. 



GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

17 (Continued) 

(2) Principal Safety Net Healthcare Provider – Implications for the System 

The System’s formation was driven by the strategic vision of local business and community leaders who 

recognized the overriding importance of Grady Memorial Hospital in providing appropriately accessible 

healthcare for the indigent and other potentially under-served populations in the region. In short, the vision 

is founded on a deep desire to ensure that the System can both survive and thrive in an increasingly 

competitive and challenging healthcare industry environment. The System’s ability to continue its mission 

on a long-term sustainable basis is a critical benefit to the citizens of both metropolitan Atlanta and the 

state of Georgia. 

As indicated in note 1, the System is the principal safety-net healthcare provider for the Atlanta 

metropolitan area. Additionally, because the System is the primary Level I trauma center for the region (and 

for other reasons unique to the System), it also has some patient volumes from outside of the metropolitan 

area. The System’s payor mix is heavily influenced by care to the uninsured and underinsured. The 

financing of the System’s care for this critical population is provided through two key sources: 

• Funding from the Counties, as described in note 1, which totaled approximately $55.4 million for both

the 2019 and 2018 fiscal years, included in contributions from Fulton and DeKalb Counties in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

• Funding from the combined state/federal Medicaid disproportionate share program (referred to in

Georgia as the Indigent Care Trust Fund, or ICTF), which totaled approximately $83.8 million and

$83.7 million for the 2019 and 2018 fiscal years, respectively, included in net patient service revenue in

the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The System is largely dependent on the two financing sources described above to provide net cash from 

operations at levels sufficient to fund the System’s operating activities in a manner consistent with its 

mission. Any material reduction in funds from these two financing sources would have a materially adverse 

impact on the System’s financial results. Management recognizes the risks inherent in the System’s 

dependence on these financing sources. 

As previously noted, the System is the legal agent for the Authority’s obligations to the Counties regarding 

the provision of indigent care to the Counties’ citizens, under the terms of continuing Operating Agreements 

that obligate the Counties to fund the cost of that care according to certain defined criteria. To further clarify 

Fulton County’s obligations (which have historically represented the significant majority of related funding), 

the Authority and Fulton County entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (the MOU), which 

effectively further memorializes the financial obligation of Fulton County under the Operating Agreements. 

System management views the MOU as an important additional level of confirmation ensuring that funding 

it receives from the Counties will continue at levels reasonably consistent with the services the System 

provides to the Counties’ citizens. Nevertheless, funding under the Operating Agreements (as 

supplemented by the MOU) is necessarily subject to political and related implications arising from the 

Counties’ budgeting and related processes, and therefore, there are no guarantees regarding future 

funding amounts beyond the commitments evidenced in the Operating Agreements. 
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Under the provisions of the ICTF program, the System contributes funds to be used by the state in the 

Medicaid program that are then supplemented by federal funds, the aggregate of which are often referred 

to as consolidation dollars. The consolidation dollars are returned to the System as additional Medicaid 

inpatient reimbursement. The state Medicaid program is funded on a state fiscal year basis (the state 

maintains a June 30 fiscal year-end). As of December 31, 2019, the System has been approved to 

participate in the state fiscal 2020 ICTF program. In February 2020, the state fiscal 2020 ICTF program 

plan terms were finalized. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that the specific funding levels 

associated with the System’s future participation in this program will be maintained at or near historical 

levels, or that the program will not ultimately be discontinued or materially modified. Distributions of the 

annual ICTF funding are generally disbursed in semiannual lump sums, the timing of which varies from 

year to year. Estimated amounts outstanding under the ICTF program totaled $12.7 million and 

$11.4 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and are included in other current assets in the 

accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Significant operational improvements have been achieved since the formation of the System and 

management remains focused on continuing to improve operational efficiencies and growing revenue. 

An important goal in the creation of the System was the solicitation of contributions from community donors 

who had previously not significantly supported Grady Memorial Hospital. To that end, the System has 

received multiple commitments since its 2008 formation through December 31, 2019 for contributions and 

conditional grants to support the System’s significant need to improve its capital asset base. These funds 

have been, and will be, directed to a number of important capital asset needs, including major clinical 

equipment upgrades, new information technology systems, and a new Center for Ambulatory Surgery 

Services (CASS). These capital asset additions support the System’s important strategic goals of improving 

clinical quality, attracting commercial and other insured patients, providing physicians and other clinicians 

clinical equipment that is consistent with current standards of care, and creating support systems that 

optimize effectiveness and efficiency in both clinical and nonclinical information reporting. 

The System’s ability to continue to pursue its safety net mission in a manner consistent with 

otherwise-comparable institutions serving major metropolitan areas is dependent on a number of factors, 

the most important of which have been described above. A reasonably assured funds flow from the 

Counties, continued participation in the ICTF program at legacy levels (assuming no Medicaid expansion), 

achievement of continued operational improvement strategies, and enhanced community fund-raising 

support are all vital to the System’s mission. Management believes that the System is well-positioned 

against the critical dependencies previously described, but also notes that any material variance from the 

System’s expectations in any of these areas would have an associated material adverse effect on its 

financial condition and its results of operations. 
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(3) Other Current Assets 

The composition of other current assets is as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Prepaid expenses $ 12,984 11,303

Inventories 20,009 16,478

Due from state reimbursement programs 23,686 23,390

Due from HSOC, Inc. (Note 18(a))     17,665 2,600

Other current assets 5,474 5,954

$ 79,818 59,725

(4) Assets Limited as to Use and Investment Income 

The composition of assets limited as to use is as follows: 

Fair value

hierarchy December 31

level (note 16) 2019 2018

(In thousands)

Internally designated for capital acquisition

and other uses:

Mutual funds Level 1 $ 5,234 4,203

Held by trustee under escrow agreements:

Cash and cash equivalents Level 1 2,332 4,961

Insurance guaranty trust fund:

Cash and cash equivalents Level 1 8,325 8,274

Limited by donors for specific purposes:

Cash and cash equivalents Level 1 30,359 39,772

High yield mutual funds Level 1 1,302 1,227

Common collective trust funds Level 1 1,752 1,752

33,413 42,751

$ 49,304 60,189

Investment income, net (of investment fees) represents interest and dividends and totaled approximately 

$3.9 million and $2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 



GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

20 (Continued) 

(5) Property and Equipment, Net 

A summary of property and equipment, net is as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Land and land improvements $ 3,062 3,062

Buildings and leasehold improvements 417,542 405,330

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 321,180 293,527

Computer hardware and software 126,503 115,723

868,287 817,642

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (500,231) (444,120) 

368,056 373,522

Construction in progress 51,068 40,378

$ 419,124 413,900

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 totaled approximately 

$61.5 million and $56.6 million, respectively. Construction in progress at December 31, 2019 and 2018 

principally consists of expenditures related to new construction and renovation of existing facilities. Current 

projects in process at December 31, 2019 are planned for completion at various dates through fiscal year 

2022 at an estimated total remaining cost to complete of approximately $367.8 million. 

Equipment under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2019 and 2018, exclusive of amounts held 

under the Agreement and gross of accumulated amortization, is approximately $8.2 million at both 

December 31, 2019 and 2018. Related accumulated amortization at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is 

approximately $5.7 million and $5.1 million, respectively. 

(6) New Market Tax Credit (NMTC) Program 

The System entered into certain transactions (the Transactions) with a bank (the Investor Member) and 

certain lenders on August 16, 2017 and April 17, 2015 to obtain financing through the NMTC Program 

sponsored by the U.S. Department of Treasury. The NMTC Program permits certain corporate taxpayers to 

receive a credit against federal income taxes for making Qualified Equity Investments (QEIs) in Community 

Development Entities (CDEs). The credit provided to the investor totals 39% of the initial value of the QEI 

and is claimed over a seven-year credit allowance period. Through the Transactions, GWIC and GHRI, 

both wholly owned subsidiaries of the System, were formed for the purpose of effecting the System’s 

participation in the NMTC Program. In addition, Grady Atlanta Investment Fund, LLC (the Investment 

Fund), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Investor Member, was formed as part of the 2015 Transaction for 

the purpose of investing in the related and subsequent CDEs. 
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2017 NMTC Transaction 

As part of the 2017 Transaction, the System contributed $15.7 million as a loan to the Investment Fund, 

and the Investor Member contributed $7.4 million as an equity interest in the Investment Fund. The 

Investment Fund then made QEIs totaling $22.0 million in exchange for an equity interest in three 

supporting CDEs. These CDEs then loaned $21.8 million, which represents the funding received by the 

CDEs less certain suballocation reporting fees and other transaction expenses, to GWIC as qualified 

low-income community investment loans (2017 QLICI Notes), which are included in notes payable, net, 

new market tax credit (note 9) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The 2017 QLICI Notes 

do not require annual principal repayments, are secured by all of the assets of GWIC, and have a legal 

maturity date of August 16, 2047 and an anticipated repayment date of August 16, 2024 upon the exercise 

of the put option by the Investor Member. In connection with the 2017 Transaction, the System entered into 

a put/call agreement with the Investor Member. Under the terms of the put/call agreement, the System has 

the right to purchase the Investor Member’s interest in the 2017 QLICI Notes at a nominal put price of 

$1,000 on August 16, 2024. If the put option is not exercised by the Investor Member on August 16, 2024, 

the System may exercise its right under the call provision to purchase the Investor Member’s interest in the 

2017 QLICI Notes at a nominal price of $1,000 during the earlier of six months following August 16, 2024 or 

six months following receipt of a Non-Put Election Notice (as defined) provided the System is compliant 

with certain other requirements stipulated in the put/call agreement. 

The System has control over the operations of GWIC, and therefore, the accounts of this entity are 

included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The System provided funding to the 

Investment Fund and received and recorded a note receivable as part of the NMTC Program. A summary 

of note receivable, new market tax credit associated with the 2017 Transaction is as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Note receivable with interest paid annually at a rate of 1.08%

to be fully settled on August 16, 2024 $ 15,711 15,711

2015 NMTC Transaction 

As part of the 2015 Transaction, the System contributed $21.3 million as a loan to the Investment Fund, 

and the Investor Member contributed $13.5 million as an equity interest in the Investment Fund. The 

Investment Fund then made QEIs totaling $31.0 million in exchange for an equity interest in three 

supporting CDEs. These CDEs then loaned $30.4 million, which represents the funding received by the 

CDEs less certain sub allocation reporting fees and other transaction expenses, to GHRI as qualified 

low-income community investment loans (2015 QLICI Notes), which are included in notes payable, net, 

new market tax credit (note 9) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The 2015 QLICI Notes 

do not require annual principal repayments, are secured by all of the assets of GHRI, and have a legal 

maturity date of April 7, 2035 and an anticipated repayment date of April 6, 2022 upon the exercise of the 

put option by the Investor Member. In connection with the 2015 Transaction, the System entered into a 

put/call agreement with the Investor Member. Under the terms of the put/call agreement, the System has 

the right to purchase the Investor Member’s interest in the 2015 QLICI Notes at a nominal put price of 

$1,000 on April 6, 2022. If the put option is not exercised by the Investor Member on April 6, 2022, the 

System may exercise its right under the call provision to purchase the Investor Member’s interest in the 

2015 QLICI Notes at a nominal price of $1,000 during the earlier of six months following April 6, 2022 or 
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six months following receipt of a Non-Put Election Notice (as defined) provided the System is compliant 

with certain other requirements stipulated in the put/call agreement. 

The System has control over the operations of GHRI, and therefore, the accounts of this entity are included 

in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The System provided funding to the Investment 

Fund and received and recorded a note receivable as part of the NMTC Program. A summary of note 

receivable, new market tax credit associated with the 2015 Transaction is as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Note receivable with interest paid annually at a rate of 1.0%

to be fully settled on April 6, 2022 $ 21,313 21,313

(7) Pledges Receivable, Net 

A summary of pledges receivable, net is as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Less than one year $ 16,493  19,239

One to five years 11,572  14,029

28,065 33,268

Less:

Unamortized discounts using a discount rate of 3.3%

at both December 31, 2019 and 2018 (737) (1,178) 

Allowance for doubtful pledges (436) (314) 

$ 26,892 31,776

(8) Other Accrued Expenses 

The composition of other accrued expenses is as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Accrued salaries and benefits $ 47,950 43,253

Current portion of accrued postretirement benefit cost 961 965

Other accrued expenses 43,808 38,138

$ 92,719 82,356
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(9) Notes Payable 

A summary of notes payable, net, new market tax credit is as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Notes payable associated with the 2017 NMTC Transaction

(note 6), interest paid annually at an interest rate of 1.0%,

anticipated to be fully settled on August 16, 2024 $ 21,840 21,840

Less:

Unamortized debt issuance costs (306) (373) 

21,534 21,467

Notes payable associated with the 2015 NMTC Transaction

(note 6), interest paid annually at an interest rate of 0.7%,

anticipated to be fully settled on April 6, 2022 30,355 30,355

Less:

Unamortized debt issuance costs (227) (328) 

30,128 30,027

Notes payable, net, new market tax credit $ 51,662 51,494

(10) Insurance Programs 

The System is self-insured for its general and professional liability insurance coverage. The System’s 

self-insured retention is $5 million per claim and $25 million in the aggregate. Commercial insurance has 

been obtained through various carriers to provide for excess and umbrella coverage of $95 million in 

excess of the System’s self-insured retention limits on a claims-made basis. 

The general and professional self-insurance reserves included in the accompanying consolidated balance 

sheets, totaling $50.1 million and $52.4 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, include 

estimates of the ultimate costs for both reported claims and claims incurred but not reported. The System 

has retained independent actuaries to estimate the ultimate costs of the settlement of such claims. Accrued 

general and professional liability costs have been undiscounted at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

The System is self-insured for its workers’ compensation liability exposures up to limits of $350,000 per 

claim. Commercial insurance has been obtained to provide for excess workers’ compensation liability 

coverage. The related amounts recorded by the System in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 

totaled $2.3 million and $1.9 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (undiscounted at 

December 31, 2019 and 2018). 

The System sponsors a self-insured program for its employee health benefits up to limits of $285,000 per 

claim for fiscal years 2019 and 2018. The System recognized related reserves of approximately $3.6 million 

and $3.3 million in accrued medical benefits (included in other accrued expenses in the accompanying 

consolidated balance sheets) at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The reserves include 

estimates of the ultimate cost for claims incurred but not reported. 
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In the opinion of management, adequate provision has been made for losses that may occur from the 

asserted and unasserted claims for each of these self-insurance programs. 

(11) Net Patient Service Revenue 

Net patient service revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the System 

expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from patients, 

third-party payors (including health insurers and government payors), and others and includes variable 

consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. 

The System bills the patients and third-party payors several days after the services are performed or the 

patient is discharged from the facility. Revenue is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied. 

Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided by the System. 

Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based on actual charges incurred in 

relation to total expected (or actual) charges. The System believes that this method provides a faithful 

depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance obligation based on the inputs 

needed to satisfy the obligation. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to patients 

receiving inpatient acute care, long-term care services and patients receiving services in outpatient centers. 

The System measures the performance obligation from admission into the hospital/nursing facility, or the 

commencement of an outpatient service, to the point when it is no longer required to provide services to 

that patient, which is generally at the time of discharge or completion of the outpatient services. Revenue 

for performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is generally recognized when goods are provided to 

the patients and customers in a retail setting (for example, pharmaceuticals), and the System does not 

believe it is required to provide additional goods or services related to that sale. 

The System’s performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of less than one year; therefore, 

the System has elected to apply the optional exemption provided in FASB ASC 606-10-50-14(a) and is not 

required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that 

are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. The unsatisfied or partially 

unsatisfied performance obligations referred to above are primarily related to inpatient acute care services 

at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally completed 

when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the end of the reporting 

period. 

The System is utilizing the portfolio approach practical expedient in ASC 606 for contracts related to net 

patient service revenue. The System accounts for the contracts within each portfolio as a collective group, 

rather than individual contracts, based on the payment pattern expected in each portfolio category and the 

similar nature and characteristics of the patients within each portfolio. The portfolios consist of major payor 

classes for inpatient revenue and outpatient revenue. Based on historical collection trends and other 

analyses, the System has concluded that revenue for a given portfolio would not be materially different than 

if accounting for revenue on a contract-by-contract basis. 

The System determines the transaction price based on standard charges for goods and services provided, 

reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third party payors, discounts provided to uninsured patients 

in accordance with the System’s policy, or implicit price concessions provided to uninsured patients. The 

System determines its estimates of contractual adjustments and discounts based on contractual 

agreements, discount policies, and historical experience. The System determines its estimate of implicit 

price concessions based on historical collection experience with certain classes of patients. 
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Consistent with the System’s mission, care is provided to patients regardless of their ability to pay. 

Therefore, the System has determined it has provided implicit price concessions to uninsured patients and 

other uninsured balances (for example, copays and deductibles). The implicit price concessions included in 

estimating the transaction price represents the difference between amounts billed to patients and the 

amounts the System expects to collect based on its collection history with those patients. 

Patients who meet the System’s criteria for charity care, services are provided free or at a discounted 

amount. These patients are not billed for their healthcare services. These amounts are recorded as charity 

care services and are not reported as revenue. 

Patients who are covered by third-party payors are responsible for related deductibles and coinsurance, 

which vary in amount. The System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those uninsured 

patients a discount, either by policy or by law, from standard charges. The System estimates the 

transaction price for patients with deductibles and coinsurance and from those who are uninsured based on 

historical experience and current market conditions. The initial estimate of the transaction price is 

determined by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts, and implicit price 

concessions based on historical collection experience. Subsequent changes to the estimate of the 

transaction price are generally recorded as adjustments to patient service revenue in the period of the 

change. 

The System has determined that the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are 

affected by the following factors: 

• Payors (for example, Medicare, Medicaid, managed care or other insurance, patient) have different

reimbursement and payment methodologies

• Length of the patient’s service or episode of care

• Method of reimbursement (fee for service or agreed-upon rates with payors)

• The System’s line of business that provided the service (for example, inpatient, outpatient, nursing

home, etc.)

The System has agreements with governmental and other third-party payors that provide for 

reimbursement to the System at amounts different from its established rates. Contractual adjustments 

under third-party reimbursement programs represent the difference between billings at established rates for 

services and amounts reimbursed by third-party payors. A summary of payment arrangements with major 

third-party payors is as follows: 

Medicare – Substantially all acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid 

at prospectively determined rates. These rates vary according to patient classification systems that are 

based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Certain types of exempt services and other defined 

payments related to Medicare beneficiaries are paid based upon cost reimbursement or other 

retroactive-determination methodologies. Payments for cost reimbursable items are made at tentative 

rates, with final settlement determined after submission of annual cost reports by Grady Memorial 

Hospital and audits by the Medicare administrative contractors. Grady Memorial Hospital’s cost reports 

have been audited and settled for all fiscal years through 2012. Revenue from the Medicare program 

accounted for approximately 35% and 34% of the System’s net patient service revenue for the years 

ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
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Medicaid – Inpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are generally paid based 

upon prospective reimbursement methodologies established by the state of Georgia. Certain types of 

exempt services and outpatient services related to Medicaid beneficiaries are paid based upon cost 

reimbursement or other retroactive-determination methodologies. Payments for cost reimbursable 

items are made at tentative rates, with final settlement determined after submission of annual cost 

reports by the System and audits by the Medicaid fiscal intermediary. Grady Memorial Hospital’s cost 

reports have been audited and settled for all fiscal years through 2016. The System also contracts with 

certain managed care organizations to receive reimbursement for providing services to Medicaid 

beneficiaries. Payment arrangements with these managed care organizations consist primarily of 

prospectively determined rates per discharge, discounts from established charges, or prospectively 

determined per diem rates. Revenue from the Medicaid program (excluding ICTF revenue) accounted 

for approximately 28% and 31% of the System’s net patient service revenue for the years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

The System has also entered into other reimbursement arrangements providing for payment 

methodologies, which include prospectively determined rates per discharge, prospectively determined per 

diem amounts, and discounts from established charges. 

As described in note 2, the System participates in the state ICTF program and an ancillary program 

referred to as the Upper Payment Limit (UPL) program. Net amounts received from the ICTF and UPL 

programs are recognized as additional Medicaid inpatient reimbursement and, therefore, are reflected in 

net patient service revenue. The related net reimbursement benefit recognized by the System for the years 

ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $103.6 million and $112.8 million, respectively. 

The fact that the System’s fiscal year-end differs from the state fiscal year results in certain timing 

differences in terms of ICTF and UPL funds received and to be received. The System’s ICTF and UPL 

revenue is subject to retrospective adjustment in future periods based upon audits as required by the 

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). Estimated amounts outstanding under the ICTF and 

UPL programs for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 totaled $23.7 million and $23.4 million, respectively, and are 

included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, are complex 

and subject to varying interpretation. As a result of investigations by governmental agencies, various 

healthcare organizations have received requests for information and notices regarding alleged 

noncompliance with those laws and regulations, which, in some instances, have resulted in organizations 

entering into significant settlement agreements. Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be 

subject to future government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action, including 

fines, penalties, and potential exclusion from the related programs. There can be no assurance that 

regulatory authorities will not challenge the System’s compliance with these laws and regulations, and it is 

not possible to determine the impact (if any) such claims or penalties would have upon the System. In 

addition, the contracts the System has with commercial payors also provide for retroactive audit and review 

of claims. 

Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or 

investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the estimated 

transaction price for providing patient care. These settlements are estimated based on the terms of the 

payment agreement with the payor, correspondence from the payor and the System’s historical settlement 

activity, including an assessment to ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 

cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive 

adjustment is subsequently resolved. Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments 
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become known (that is, new information becomes available), or as years are settled or are no longer 

subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations. 

Net patient service revenue increased by approximately $1.1 million and decreased by $0.7 million in 2019 

and 2018, respectively due to the adjustment of previously estimated third-party payor reserves that are no 

longer necessary as a result of final settlements, years that are no longer subject to audits, reviews, and 

investigations, and new reserves established in accordance with the System’s policy. 

The composition of net patient service revenue based on the System’s major financial classes and lines of 

business for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Medicare $ 475,588 437,929

Medicaid 296,636 293,517

Other third-party payors 342,940 318,722

Uninsured - Self Pay 41,402 24,614

$ 1,156,566 1,074,782

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Business lines:

Grady Hospital  – inpatient $ 714,066 669,869

Grady Hospital  – outpatient 223,071 204,402

Hughes Spalding Children's Hospital  – inpatient 4,806 6,244

Hughes Spalding Children's Hospital  – outpatient 44,229 38,463

Grady EMS Services 55,260 48,133

Crestview Nursing Facility 15,912 14,858

Pharmacy Outpatient Sales  – Point of Sale Services 99,222 92,813

$ 1,156,566 1,074,782
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For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the System recognized revenue of $953.7 million and 

$869.1 million respectively, from goods and services that transfer to the customer over time and 

$99.2 million and $92.8 million, respectively, from goods and services that transfer to the customer at a 

point in time. Also, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 approximately $103.6 million and 

$112.8 million respectively from the ICTF and UPL programs; these revenues are recognized as additional 

Medicaid reimbursement. 

Contract Assets 

Under the provisions of ASU 2014-09, amounts related to services provided to patients for which the 

System has not billed and that do not meet the conditions of unconditional right to payment at the end of 

the fiscal year are contract assets. The System’s contract assets consist primarily of services that the 

System has provided to patients who are still receiving inpatient care in the System’s facilities at the end of 

the fiscal year. Such contract assets are included in patient accounts receivable, net in the accompanying 

consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2019. The opening and closing balance of contract assets 

was $16.9 million and $22.7 million at January 1, 2019 and December 31, 2019, respectively. 

Uncompensated Care 

As further described in both notes 1 and 2, the System is the principal safety net healthcare provider for the 

Atlanta metropolitan area. As a result, the System provides significant amounts of healthcare services to a 

large number of uninsured citizens in the region, the majority of whom do not have the means to pay for the 

cost of services provided. Consistent with the System’s mission, all patients are served without regard to 

ability to pay. Charity care is offered to residents of Fulton and DeKalb Counties in accordance with the 

System’s financial assistance policies. While a significant number of uninsured patients apply and qualify 

for financial assistance, a large population of uninsured patients that are served by the System (especially 

those provided emergency care) are not eligible for financial assistance, and therefore, the System also 

incurs significant amounts of implicit price concessions related to the charges for services provided. 

The System recognizes patient service revenue associated with services provided to patients with 

third-party payor coverage on the basis of contractual rates for the services rendered. For uninsured 

patients who do not qualify for its Financial Assistance Program, the System recognizes revenue on the 

basis of its discounted rates for services provided. Based on historical experience, a significant portion of 

the System’s uninsured patients are unable or unwilling to pay for the services provided. 

The System provides services to patients who do not have the ability to pay and who qualify for charity care 

services pursuant to established policies of the System. Charity care services are defined as those for 

which patients have the obligation and willingness to pay but do not have the financial wherewithal to do 

so. The System does not include charity care in net patient service revenue. The cost of charity care 

provided totaled approximately $212.9 million and $245.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 

and 2018, respectively. The cost of uncompensated care, which is defined by the System as services 

related to patients who do not have the ability to pay including charity care, uninsured discounts, and 

implicit price concessions totaled approximately $370.4 million and $337.9 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The System estimated these costs by applying a ratio of cost 

to gross charges to the related gross uncompensated charges. 
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(12) Employee Benefits Plans 

(a) Postretirement Medical Plan 

The System provides retiree medical benefits covering all employees of the System who previously 

retired at age 55 or older with at least 10 years of service. In fiscal year 2008, the System amended this 

plan to limit availability of retiree medical benefits to current employees aged 50 or older on 

September 4, 2008 and who retire at age 62 or older with at least 10 years of service. The cost of 

providing most of these benefits is shared with the retirees. The plan is unfunded, and therefore, the 

System’s participation is on a “pay-as-you-go” basis. 

The plan was amended effective May 1, 2013, the terms of which generally provide that 

Medicare-eligible employees are no longer eligible for retiree medical benefits under the postretirement 

benefit plan. Consequently, during 2014 the System began providing a retiree Health Reimbursement 

Account (HRA) for each Medicare-eligible individual in the plan. The plan discontinued its HRA 

contributions starting in 2015. The financial impact of the 2013 plan amendments on the System’s 

consolidated financial statements has resulted in a $1.1 million and a $2.4 million increase in operating 

income for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, through a reduction in net 

periodic benefit cost. A discount rate of 3.35% was used to remeasure obligations at the amendment 

date. 

The changes in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBO) during the years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

APBO, beginning of year: $ 3,168 4,227

Service cost 32 56

Interest cost 85 90

Plan participant contributions 32 45

Benefits paid (236) (19) 

Actuarial gain (762) (1,231) 

APBO, end of year $ 2,319 3,168

The APBO amounts recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Current liabilities $ 961 965

Long-term liabilities 1,358 2,203

Amount recognized $ 2,319 3,168
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The amounts accumulated in net assets without donor restrictions are as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Net gain $ 1,926  2,425

$ 1,926 2,425

The total amount of actuarial net loss expected to be amortized into net periodic postretirement benefit 

cost in 2019 is a net debit of $0.9 million. 

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations in the accompanying 

consolidated balance sheets are as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

Discount rate 2.03 % 3.37 %

Rate of compensation increases N/A N/A

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost (credit) are as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Service cost $ 32 56

Interest cost 85 90

Amortization of prior service credit — (1,746) 

Amortization of net gain (1,261) (763) 

Net periodic postretirement benefit credit $ (1,144) (2,363) 

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic postretirement benefit credit are as 

follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

Discount rate 3.37 % 2.49 %

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increases N/A N/A
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Assumed healthcare cost trend rates of employer claim payments, which are based on a national 2019 

survey of U.S. employer-sponsored health plans, are as follows: 

2020 5.50 %

2021 5.30

2022-2023 5.20

2024–2025 5.10

2026–2028 5.00

2029–2030 4.90

2031–2032 4.80

2033–2036 Reduce by 0.1 %

every two years

2037 and thereafter 4.50

Changes in assumed healthcare cost trend rates may impact the amounts reported for postretirement 

healthcare benefits. A 1% increase in the healthcare cost trend rate would increase the APBO by 

approximately $42,000 and increase interest and service cost by approximately $2,000. A 1% decrease 

in the healthcare cost trend rate would decrease the APBO by approximately $41,000 and reduce 

interest and service cost by approximately $2,000. 

Future benefit payments (in thousands) are expected to be paid as follows: 

Payable in fiscal year:

2020 $ 961

2021 792

2022 547

2023 87

2024 2

2025–2029 2

(b) Defined Contribution Savings Plan 

The System sponsors a defined-contribution savings plan, which covers substantially all of its 

employees. Total matching contributions made and accrued under the savings plan totaled 

approximately $11.5 million and $9.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 

respectively. 

Beginning January 1, 2009, the deferred retirement savings program changed from the previous 403(b) 

plan sponsored by the Authority to a 401(k) Plan sponsored by the System. The System matches 

employee contributions dollar for dollar up to 4% of eligible employees’ base compensation after 

completion of one year of eligible service. Employees are immediately fully vested in matching 

contributions. 
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(13) Leases 

As previously described in note 1, the Agreement was determined to be a capital lease obligation under 

relevant accounting literature. Additionally, the System has also entered into certain other noncancelable 

medical equipment leases, determined to be capital lease obligations under relevant accounting literature, 

which expire at various dates through 2024. 

Future minimum payments under these capital lease obligations at December 31, 2019 are as follows 

(in thousands): 

The

Agreement Other

Payable in fiscal year:

2020 $ 2,500 742

2021 2,500 735

2022 2,500 661

2023 2,500 524

2024 2,500 195

Thereafter 58,542 —

71,042 2,857

Less:

Interest cost (40,118) (347) 

Current portion (355) (595) 

$ 30,569 1,915

The System has also entered into certain noncancelable leases for office space, determined to be 

operating leases under relevant accounting literature, which expire at various dates through 2033. Total 

rent expense recognized for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately 

$13.4 million and $11.4 million, respectively, principally for building and equipment rentals, and is included 

in supplies and other expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

Future minimum payments due under noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2019 are as 

follows (in thousands): 

Payable in fiscal year:

2020 $ 6,140

2021 6,069

2022 6,133

2023 5,511

2024 4,606

Thereafter 20,352

$ 48,811
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(14) Donor Restricted Net Assets 

Donor restricted net assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are restricted for the following purposes: 

December 31

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Subject to expenditures for specific purposes

Capital improvements $ 52,282 62,141

Fund-raising and other programs 9,704 13,808

61,986 75,949

Subject to restriction in perpetuity 22,842 19,900

Total $ 84,828 95,849

(15) Business and Credit Concentrations 

The System grants credit to patients, substantially all of whom reside in the System’s service area. The 

System does not require collateral or other security in extending credit to patients; however, it routinely 

obtains assignment of (or is otherwise entitled to receive) patients’ benefits payable under their health 

insurance programs, plans, or policies (e.g., Medicare, Medicaid, preferred provider arrangements, and 

commercial insurance policies). 

The composition of patient accounts receivable, net by payor type is as follows: 

December 31

2019 2018

Medicare 19 % 23 %

Medicaid 28 30

Commercial and other third-party payors 49 44

Patients 4 3

100 % 100 %
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(16) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The System’s estimates of fair value for financial assets and liabilities are based on the framework 

established in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, which defines fair value as the price that would be 

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 

at the measurement date. This framework is based on the inputs used in valuation and gives the highest 

priority to quoted prices in active markets and requires observable inputs to be used in the valuations when 

available. The disclosure of fair value estimates in the ASC 820 hierarchy is based on whether the 

significant inputs into the valuation are observable. In determining the level of the hierarchy in which the 

estimate is disclosed, the highest priority is given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the 

lowest priority to unobservable inputs that reflect the System’s significant market assumptions. The 

three levels of hierarchy are as follows: 

Level 1 – Valuations based on unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in active 

markets 

Level 2 – Valuations based on pricing inputs that are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are 

either directly or indirectly observable. Examples include quoted prices in active markets for underlying 

assets, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar 

assets or liabilities in an inactive market, or valuations based on models where significant inputs are 

observable or can be corroborated by observable market data 

Level 3 – Valuations derived from other valuation methodologies, including pricing models, discounted cash 

flow models, and similar techniques. Level 3 valuations incorporate certain assumptions and projections 

that are not observable in the market, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market 

activity for the asset or liability at measurement date. 

The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. As required by ASC 820, assets 

and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement. 

The fair value hierarchy of the System’s assets limited as to use is disclosed at note 4. Fair value 

disclosures under ASC 820 of the System’s remaining financial instruments are as follows: 

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include short-term financial instruments whose carrying values approximate 

fair value, classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy, given short-term maturity of these 

instruments. 

(b) Beneficial Interest in Net Assets Held by Others 

The carrying value of the System’s beneficial interest in funds held by the Authority is adjusted annually 

for changes in fair value. The fair value of these funds is included in beneficial interest in net assets 

held by others in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 at 

$22.8 million and $19.9 million, respectively. The remaining balance of $1.9 million at both 

December 31, 2019, and 2018, included in beneficial interest in net assets held by others represents 

investments held by HSOC, Inc. (note 18(a)), which are also adjusted annually for changes in fair 

value. 
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The majority of the related assets are investments in listed fixed income and equity securities, which 

are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. The following is a summary of the fair value 

hierarchy for deposits and investments of the System’s beneficial interest in funds held by the Authority 

and HSOC, Inc. as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (in thousands): 

2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash

equivalents $ 1,540 — — 1,540

U.S. money market

funds 37 — — 37

U.S. equity securities 1,642 — — 1,642

U.S. mutual funds 15,425 — — 15,425

Real estate exchange

traded funds 187 — — 187

International private

equity funds — — 5,920 5,920

$ 18,831 — 5,920 24,751

2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash

equivalents $ 1,539 — — 1,539

U.S. money market

funds 83 — — 83

U.S. equity securities 1,187 — — 1,187

U.S. mutual funds 13,714 — — 13,714

Real estate exchange

traded funds 235 — — 235

International private

equity funds — — 5,051 5,051

$ 16,758 — 5,051 21,809

(c) Pledges Receivable, Net 

Pledges receivable for current year gifts are initially measured at fair value in the year the receivable is 

recorded based on the present value of future cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the 

risks involved, which is an application of the income approach and are classified as Level 3 within the 

fair value hierarchy. Current year gifts included in pledges receivable reflected at fair value at 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 totaled approximately $4.9 million and $18.3 million, respectively. 
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(d) Patient Accounts and Grants Receivable, Accounts Payable, Due to Medical Schools, and Other 

Accrued Expenses 

The carrying amounts of patient accounts and grants receivable, accounts payable, due to medical 

schools and other accrued expenses approximate fair value and are classified as Level 1 within the fair 

value hierarchy, because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. 

(17) Affiliation with Medical Schools 

Grady Memorial Hospital serves as the largest teaching hospital in the state of Georgia. In that respect, the 

System has contracts with Emory University School of Medicine (Emory) and Morehouse School of 

Medicine (Morehouse) (collectively, the Medical Schools), wherein practicing interns and residents of 

Emory and Morehouse receive clinical training at Grady Memorial Hospital. The teaching services provided 

to the interns and residents are provided primarily by faculty members of the Medical Schools in addition to 

other clinical and administrative services, which they provide to Grady Memorial Hospital. The Medical 

Schools are compensated for the costs of interns and residents effectively at cost. The Medical Schools are 

compensated for the faculty teaching, administrative, and clinical services based on certain formulas that 

consider the number of interns and residents instructed, time spent performing administrative services and 

otherwise unreimbursed clinical services, and consider fair market value of compensation rates by specialty 

and ranking. Additionally, the System has agreed to fund other costs specifically associated with the 

ongoing provision of physician services by the Medical Schools, including the cost of professional liability 

exposures and the funding of intergovernmental transfers to enable the receipt of related Medicaid program 

supplemental payments for physician services billed by the Medical Schools. The System’s contracts with 

the Medical Schools expire on June 30, 2024. Net expenses for direct physician services under these 

contracts totaled approximately $194.3 million and $176.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 

and 2018, respectively, and are included in supplies and other expenses in the accompanying consolidated 

statements of operations. Total amounts payable for direct physician services under these contracts totaled 

approximately $26.3 million and $19.7 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and are 

included in due to Medical Schools in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

(18) Related-Party Transactions 

(a) HSOC, Inc. 

With the execution of the Agreement (note 1), HSOC, Inc. (HSOC) committed to a total of $15 million of 

donated capital for capital improvements to Hughes Spalding. The System has a contract with HSOC, 

a nonprofit affiliate of Children’s Healthcare of Atlanta (CHOA), whereby HSOC provides certain 

management, administrative, and related services to Hughes Spalding for an initial term of 15 years 

beginning in February 2006. This agreement may be renewed for an additional 10 years at the election 

of HSOC. The contract requires that Hughes Spalding operate under the name “Children’s Healthcare 

of Atlanta at Hughes Spalding.” HSOC is responsible for the costs of operating Hughes Spalding. Up 

until December 31, 2016, the System had a commitment of $2 million of specific annual support for the 

operation of Hughes Spalding and CHOA had a matching support commitment of $2 million annually. 

Additionally, the System was responsible for 50% of the Hughes Spalding “Excess/Deficit” (as defined) 

up to a total of $2 million annually, not to exceed $4 million in any successive rolling three-year period. 
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The System entered into an amendment to the contract with HSOC effective January 1, 2017, which 

modifies certain terms and conditions included in the original contract. Under the terms of the amended 

contract, HSOC is responsible for all operating cash losses of Hughes Spalding (excluding depreciation 

and the operating impact of in-kind clinical services provided by the System), as well as the funding of 

all capital investments during the term of the contract. As a result, the System is no longer responsible 

for any annual operating support payments nor the funding of any Hughes Spalding “Excess/Deficit” 

(as defined). The amended contract also requires the System to maintain certain professional services 

relationships with the Medical Schools. 

The System maintains ownership of Hughes Spalding, including ownership of Hughes Spalding’s 

certificate of need, licensure, and provider agreements. The System had amounts due from HSOC 

totaling approximately $0.6 million and $0.7 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Amounts due from HSOC are included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheets. Hughes Spalding also had amounts due from HSOC totaling approximately 

$17.7 million and $2.6 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Amounts due from 

HSOC are included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

The contract also gives CHOA the right to acquire Hughes Spalding, subject to a lease/purchase 

negotiation with the System and other terms and conditions. Any such option, if elected, contemplates 

a reversionary interest on the part of the System and other System involvement in HSOC’s potential 

ownership of Hughes Spalding, which would be subject to additional negotiation as well. The contract 

also contemplates that, given the $15 million in original donations by HSOC and other ongoing 

consideration under the agreement as described above, there would be no further economic 

consideration required in the exercise of the HSOC option. Given the significant uncertainties 

associated with the potential future exercise of the HSOC option, there is no current recognition of the 

option in the System’s consolidated financial statements. 

(b) Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority 

During both the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, $2.5 million of lease payments were 

provided to the Authority in accordance with the Agreement (note 1). On August 17, 2012, the System 

and the Authority entered into an agreement whereby the Authority will fund a minimum of $0.7 million 

annually towards its pension obligation, as defined in the agreement. At the conclusion of the “lease 

years” ended May 31, 2019 and 2018, no excess funds were applied toward the Authority’s pension 

obligation. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, no amounts were due to the Authority under the 

System’s annual funding obligation. 
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(19) Liquidity and Funds Available 

The following table reflects the System’s financial assets as of December 31, 2019, reduced by amounts 

not available for expenditure within one year. Financial assets considered unavailable include financial 

assets that are illiquid or not convertible to cash within one year, financial assets that are donor-restricted, 

and financial assets that the governing board has set aside for specific contingency reserves and projects, 

or for long-term investment as Board designated endowments. 

2019 2018

(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 222,378 181,150

Net patient accounts receivable 163,840 155,081

Grants receivable 15,133 18,983

Insurance proceeds receivable 10,021 —

Other receivables 42,894 29,333

Financial assets available to meet cash needs for

general expenditures within one year $ 454,266 384,547

The Foundation is substantially supported by contributions. As a result of its current capital campaign, the 

majority of its contributions are restricted. Because a donor’s restriction requires resources to be used in a 

particular manner or in a future period, the Foundation must maintain sufficient resources to meet those 

responsibilities to donors. Therefore, certain financial assets may not be available for general expenditures 

within one year. 

As part of the System’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available 

as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. The System invests cash in excess 

of daily requirements in money market funds, fixed income securities, and mutual funds. 
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(20) Lines of Credit 

During February 2016, the System negotiated a new line-of-credit facility for $30 million as a general 

revolving working capital facility. Since its initial expiration in February 2017, the System has renewed and 

maintained this line-of-credit at the same terms on an annual basis. Amounts outstanding under this facility 

currently accrue interest at one-month LIBOR plus 100 basis points. This facility carries a 10-basis point 

commitment fee on the unused line. No amounts were due under these lines of credit at both 

December 31, 2019 and 2018. Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the line of credit was renewed at 

substantially the same terms, expiring in March 2021. On April 6, 2020, $30 million dollars was borrowed 

against the line to provide additional cash flow available to the System due to COVID-19 uncertainties. 

(21) Functional Expenses 

The System provides healthcare services to residents within its geographic location. Expenses related to 

providing these services on a functional basis were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 

2018: 

2019

Management

Program and

Services General Fundraising Total

(In thousands)

Salaries and benefits $ 438,696 144,961  67 583,724

Supplies and other

expenses 585,241 90,252 465 675,958

Interest 2,403 1,727 — 4,130

Depreciation and

amortization 42,002 19,494 — 61,496

$ 1,068,342 256,434 532 1,325,308

2018

Management

Program and

Services General Fundraising Total

(In thousands)

Salaries and benefits $ 405,820 137,583  61 543,464

Supplies and other

expenses 548,943 81,921 1,035 631,899

Interest 2,424 1,652 — 4,076

Depreciation and

amortization 38,910 18,044 — 56,954

$ 996,097 239,200 1,096 1,236,393
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Certain costs have been allocated among the functional categories benefitted. Expenses related to 

executive salaries and benefits have been allocated based on an estimate of time and effort. Expenses 

associated with occupying and maintaining system facilities have been allocated based on a study of 

usage. Other allocated expenses are based on an overhead analysis consistent with the system’s cost 

reporting methodology. 

(22) U.S. Department of Education Financial Responsibility Standards Information 

The System participates in federal Title IV student financial assistance programs, which require it to meet 

standards of financial responsibility based on criteria determined by the U.S. Department of 

Education (ED), as set forth in 34 CFR 668.171. The criteria include the annual calculation by ED of a 

financial responsibility composite score, as further outlined in 34 CFR 668.172, using audited financial 

statements submitted through ED's eZ-Audit system. The composite score has been and will continue to be 

based on three ratios: Primary Reserve, Equity, and Net Income. These ratios utilize the following financial 

data of the System, which are not otherwise presented in the consolidated financial statements or other 

notes to the consolidated financial statements, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019: 

Goodwill totaling $0.147 million is included in other assets in the accompanying 2019 consolidated balance 

sheet. 

Notes payable, net, new market tax credit totaling $21.5 million and $30.1 million at December 31, 2019 

were issued on August 16, 2017 and April 17, 2015, respectively. The proceeds from the notes payable 

were used to fund capital assets in the accompanying 2019 consolidated balance sheet totaling 

$21.9 million and $80.8, respectively. The funded capital assets consist principally of capital projects 

associated with Emergency Department renovation and expansion and renovation of the Women’s and 

Infant’s Center. 
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Consolidating Schedule – Balance Sheet Information

December 31, 2019

(In thousands)

Assets GMHC Foundation GHRI GWIC Reliant Eliminations Consolidated

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 215,466  5,645  —  1,047  220  —  222,378  

Patient accounts receivable, net 163,840  —  —  —  —  —  163,840  

Grants receivable, net 15,133  —  —  —  —  —  15,133  

Insurance proceeds receivable 10,021  —  —  —  —  —  10,021  

Current portion of pledges receivable 6,244  10,249  —  —  —  —  16,493  

Other current assets 84,312  202  5,089  1,547  65  (11,397) 79,818  

Total current assets 495,016  16,096  5,089  2,594  285  (11,397) 507,683  

Assets limited as to use 15,290  32,562  519  933  —  —  49,304  

Property and equipment, net 316,030  244  80,845  21,933  72  419,124  

Notes receivable, new market tax credit 37,024  —  —  —  —  —  37,024  

Beneficial interest in net assets held by others 24,751  —  —  —  —  —  24,751  

Pledges receivable, net, excluding current portion —  10,399  —  —  —  —  10,399  

Investments in affiliates 113,391  —  —  —  —  (113,391) —  

Other assets 1,872  —  —  —  —  —  1,872  

Total assets $ 1,003,374  59,301  86,453  25,460  357  (124,788) 1,050,157  

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities:

Current portion of capital lease obligations $ 950  —  —  —  —  —  950  

Accounts payable 50,739  1,314  3,550  258  1,034  (11,293) 45,602  

Current portion of self-insurance reserves 12,462  —  —  —  —  —  12,462  

Due to third-party payors, net 25,491  —  —  —  —  —  25,491  

Due to Medical Schools 26,313  —  —  —  —  —  26,313  

Other accrued expenses 92,802  —  —  21  —  (104) 92,719  

Total current liabilities 208,757  1,314  3,550  279  1,034  (11,397) 203,537  

Capital lease obligations, excluding current portion 32,484  —  —  —  —  —  32,484  

Notes payable, net, new market tax credit —  —  30,128  21,534  —  —  51,662  

Self-insurance reserves, excluding current portion 39,897  —  —  —  —  —  39,897  

Accrued postretirement benefit cost 1,358  —  —  —  —  —  1,358  

Other long-term liabilities 6,995  341  —  —  —  —  7,336  

Total liabilities 289,491  1,655  33,678  21,813  1,034  (11,397) 336,274  

Net assets (deficit):

Without donor restrictions 629,056  3,861  52,775  3,647  (677) (59,607) 629,055  

With donor restrictions 84,827  53,785  —  —  —  (53,784) 84,828  

Total net assets (deficit) 713,883  57,646  52,775  3,647  (677) (113,391) 713,883  

Commitments and contingencies

Total liabilities and net assets (deficit) $ 1,003,374  59,301  86,453  25,460  357  (124,788) 1,050,157  

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES

Consolidating Schedule – Statement of Operations Information

Year ended December 31, 2019

(In thousands)

GMHC Foundation GHRI GWIC Reliant Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue, gains, and other support:

Net patient service revenue $ 1,156,566  —  —  —  —  —  1,156,566  

Contributions from Fulton and DeKalb Counties 55,435  —  —  —  —  —  55,435  

Grant revenue 64,170  —  —  —  —  —  64,170  

Other revenue 71,197  6,877  —  —  406  (4,223) 74,257  

Total revenue, gains, and other support 1,347,368  6,877  —  —  406  (4,223) 1,350,428  

Operating expenses:

Salaries and benefits 582,467  3,100  —  —  62  (1,905) 583,724  

Supplies and other expenses 679,234  1,898  —  —  388  (2,318) 679,202  

Insurance proceeds from flood losses (3,244) —  —  —  —  —  (3,244) 

Interest 4,127  —  —  —  3  —  4,130  

Depreciation and amortization 61,443  28  —  —  25  —  61,496  

Total operating expenses 1,324,027  5,026  —  —  478  (4,223) 1,325,308  

Operating income (loss) 23,341  1,851  —  —  (72) —  25,120  

Nonoperating gains (losses), net:

Investment income, net 3,873  —  —  —  —  —  3,873  

Net periodic postretirement benefit credit 1,144  —  —  —  —  —  1,144  

New market tax credit, net (635) —  252  (62) —  —  (445) 

Equity in gains (losses) of affiliates 1,969  —  —  —  —  (1,969) —  

Other 84  —  —  —  —  —  84  

Total nonoperating gains (losses), net 6,435  —  252  (62) —  (1,969) 4,656  

Revenue, gains, and other support in excess of (less than) expenses and losses 29,776  1,851  252  (62) (72) (1,969) 29,776  

Accrued postretirement benefit cost adjustments (535) —  —  —  —  —  (535) 

Net assets released from restriction used for the purchase of property and equipment 18,975  —  —  —  —  —  18,975  

Contributions and other 2,750  —  —  —  —  —  2,750  

Change in net assets without donor restrictions $ 50,966  1,851  252  (62) (72) (1,969) 50,966  

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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GRADY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION AND AFFILIATES

Financial Responsibility Supplemental Schedule

Year ended December 31, 2019

(In thousands)

Primary reserve ratio:

Expendable net assets:

Consolidated balance sheet Net assets without donor restrictions $ 629,055

Consolidated balance sheet Net assets with donor restrictions 84,828

Notes to consolidated financial statements –

Note (14) – donor restricted net assets Net assets with donor restrictions –

subject to restriction in perpetuity restricted in perpetuity 22,842

Notes to consolidated financial statements –

Note (22) – goodwill Goodwill 147

Consolidated balance sheet Property and equipment, net 419,124

Consolidated balance sheet Notes payable, net, new market tax credit 51,662

Notes to consolidated financial statements –

Note (8) – current portion of accrued

postretirement benefit cost Post-employment liabilities 961

Consolidated balance sheet – accrued

postretirement benefit cost Post-employment liabilities 1,358

Total expenses:

Consolidated statement of operations –

total operating expenses Total expenses without donor restrictions 1,325,308

Equity ratio:

Modified net assets:

Consolidated balance sheet Net assets without donor restrictions $ 629,055

Consolidated balance sheet Net assets with donor restrictions 84,828

Notes to consolidated financial statements –

Note (22) – goodwill Goodwill 147

Modified assets:

Consolidated balance sheet Total assets 1,050,157

Notes to consolidated financial statements –

Note (22) – goodwill Goodwill 147

Net income ratio:

Change in net assets without donor restrictions:

Consolidated statement of operations Change in net assets without donor

restrictions $ 50,966

Total revenue without donor restrictions and

gains without donor restrictions:

Consolidated statement of operations Total revenue, gains and other support 1,350,428

Consolidated statement of operations Investment income, net 3,873

Consolidated statement of operations Net periodic postretirement benefit credit 1,144

Notes to consolidated financial statements – Service cost component included in net

Note (12(a)) – service cost periodic postretirement benefit credit 32

Consolidated statement of changes in net Net assets released from restriction used for

assets the purchase of property and equipment 18,975

Consolidated statement of changes in net

assets Contributions and other 2,750

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 

and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 

in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 

To the Board of Directors 

Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation: 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 

and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 

Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of Grady Memorial Hospital 

Corporation and affiliates (the System), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 

2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year 

then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 

dated April 28, 2020, except as to note 22 and our report on the financial responsibility schedule, which are as 

of September 22, 2020. Our report refers to the System’s implementation of Financial Accounting Standards 

Board Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers during 2019. The 

financial statements of Henry W. Grady Health System Foundation, Inc., were not audited in accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards, and accordingly, this report does not include reporting on internal control over 

financial reporting or instances of reportable noncompliance associated with the Henry W. Grady Health 

System Foundation, Inc. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the System’s 

internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the System’s internal control. Accordingly, we 

do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the System’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 

employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 

misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 

internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 

statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 

deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 

important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 

and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 

significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 

control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 

been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the System’s consolidated financial statements are 

free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 

regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect 

on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 

provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of 

our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 

Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 

the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the System’s internal control or 

on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 

Standards in considering the System’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 

suitable for any other purpose. 

Atlanta, Georgia 

April 28, 2020, except as to note 22  

and our report on the financial responsibility schedule, which are as of 

September 22, 2020. 
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Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year Ended December 31, 2019 

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 

On May 20, 2008, The Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority (the “Authority”) entered into a lease 
and transfer agreement with the Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation (GMHC), a non-profit 
corporation organized under the laws of the State of Georgia, to lease the Authority’s health system 
facilities.  The agreement transfers the operating assets and existing operations, as well as the 
performance  and  discharge  of  all  other  obligations  for  consideration  of  annual  rent  of 
$2,500,000.  The Authority assigns, transfers, and conveys right, title, and interest in and to all 
assets to the GMHC.  The entities are collectively referred to in this report as the “Hospital”. 

This  report  has  been  previously  submitted  under  the  name  The  Fulton-DeKalb  Hospital 
Authority; however, pursuant to the above paragraph, it is now submitted under the name Grady 
Memorial Hospital Corporation. 

Financial Statements 

The audits of the basic financial statements of the GMHC were performed by other auditors.  The 
report by the auditor of the GMHC on financial statements as of and for the year then ended 
December 31, 2019, dated April 29, 2020, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements. 

In connection with the audit of the basic financial statements of the GMHC, the other auditors 
did not disclosed any significant deficiencies and no material weaknesses which are disclosed in 
their report issued under separate cover and dated April 29, 2020. 

Federal Awards 

We issued an unmodified opinion on the compliance for major programs for the Hospital for the 
year ended December 31, 2019. 

We noted no significant deficiencies or material weaknesses involving the internal control over 
major programs. 

We noted no findings that we are required to report in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, 
Section 200.516.
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Identification of Major Programs: 

The following programs were audited as major programs: 

Name  of        Federal            Program or  Cluster  CFDA Number 
Ryan White Part A             93.914 
Poison Center Support and Enforcement              93.253 

We used a threshold of $750,000 expended to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs. 

The Hospital is considered a low-risk auditee. 

Section II – Current Year Financial Statement Findings 

No findings in the current year.
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THE E FULTON-DEKALB HOSPITAL 
AUTHORITY 

d/b/a GRADY HEALTH SYSTEM 
December 31, 2019 

Section III - Current Year Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

None identified.
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THE FULTON-DEKALB HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
d/b/a GRADY HEALTH SYSTEM 

Notes to the Schedule of Federal and State 
Contractual Assistance 

December 31, 2019 

1. General:

On May 20, 2008, The Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority (the “Authority”) entered into a
lease and transfer agreement with the Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation (GMHC), a
non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the State of Georgia, to lease the
Authority’s health system facilities.   The agreement transfers the operating assets and
existing operations, as well as the performance and discharge of all other obligations for
consideration of annual rent of $2,500,000.   The Authority assigned, transferred, and
conveyed right, title, and interest in and to all assets to the GMHC.

The accompanying Schedule of Federal and State Contractual Assistance presents the
combined activity of Federal and State assistance programs of the Authority and GMHC.
Contractual assistance received directly from Federal grantor agencies, as well as
contractual  assistance  passed  through  other  government agencies, and direct state of
Georgia contractual assistance are included on the accompanying schedule.

2. Accounting Principles:

a. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity of
the Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation ("GMHC") and is presented on the accrual
basis of accounting.  The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with
the requirements of the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards. As a result, some amounts shown in this schedule may vary from amounts
presented in or used in the preparation of the financial statements.

b. All Federal and State Contractual Assistance Programs are accounted for on the
reimbursement basis.

3. Indirect Cost

a. The organization   did not use the 10-percent de minimis cost rate allowed under the
Uniform Guidance.
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Medicaid Medical Education Support 12,141,612 
Non-federal and state grant revenues 8,878,592 

Restricted fund and other revenues, net of WIC Vouchers 
and Workforce Investment Act, and Pell Grants (530,704) 

Miscellaneous 
 (7,369) 

Total grant revenues in GMHC’s basic financial 
statements 

$             64,169,743 

b. The Authority uses a provisional indirect cost rate for its grants, contract and other
agreements with the Federal Government, approved by the United States Department
of Health and Human Services.

In 2019, indirect costs charged to federal programs were as follows:

Sickle Cell  $  139,833 
Poison Control  35,957 
AIDS United HRSA        15,669 
Primary Care Training and Enhancement                 20,377 
Surgical Critical Initiative  702 

Total  $              212,538 

4. Voucher Distributions

The Authority is the pass-through recipient of federal grant funds from the U. S.
Department  of  Agriculture’s  Special  Supplemental  Food  for  Women,  Infants  and
Children  (WIC)  Program  through  Georgia  Department  of  Community  Health  (the
“State”). The Authority identifies eligible program participants and the State issues non-
cash food vouchers.   According to the State’s records, the Authority’s WIC program
participants received 49,764 vouchers for program year 2019 and redeemed 28,722
vouchers valued at 361,085 for program year 2019.

5. Relationship to Basic Financial Statements and Federal Financial Reports:

Federal and State Contractual Assistance revenues are reported in the GMHC’s basic
financial statements as follows:

Federal Contractual assistance $  32,557,126 
State Contractual assistance  11,130,486 

Total per Schedule of Federal and State 
Contractual Assistance     43,687,612
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THE FULTON-DEKALB HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
d/b/a GRADY HEALTH SYSTEM 

Notes to the Schedule of Federal and State 
Contractual Assistance  

December 31, 2019 

Total Expenses in GMHC’s basic financial 
statements* 
Less:  Non Grant Related Expenditures 

$         1,325,308,000 

 1,247,867,590 

Grant Expenditures (Governmental and Non- 
Governmental) 

77,440,410 

Less: Grant Expenditures Non-Governmental   33,559,619 

Total grant revenues in GMHC’s basic financial 
statements 

$             43,880,791 

*Per Note 21 from GMHC financials

6. Pass thru Payments to Sub recipients

In 2019, the Authority made payment to sub recipients:

Agency  Amount 
Sickle Cell  $  277,561 
Sister Love  16,995 
Deborah W. Bauer   35,893 
Equality Foundation of Georgia          16,330 
Emory University – Primary Care Training          249,552 

Total  $   596,331
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THE FULTON-DEKALB HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
d/b/a GRADY HEALTH SYSTEM 

7. Subsequent Events

During the fourth quarter of 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) surfaced. 
The spread of COVID-19 around the world and in the U.S. during the first quarter of 
2020 through current has caused significant volatility in the global financial markets, 
including those in the U.S. There is continued uncertainty as to the breadth and duration 
of this pandemic and the resultant market disruption. The System is currently evaluating 
the impact on its operations and financial condition of potential adverse effects specific to 
the System, including reduced normal patient volumes, capacity constraint and resource 
inefficiencies due to the surge of COVID-19 patients, unfavorable payor reimbursement 
patterns and payor mix, and market-driven downward valuation of equity securities, 
among others. 

On March 27, 2020, H.R. 748, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, 
“the CARES Act”, was signed into legislation. Funding opportunities for healthcare 
providers under the CARES Act include the Public Health and Social Services 
Emergency Fund to be distributed to eligible healthcare providers, Centers for Medicare 
and Medicaid Services Medicare Accelerated/Advanced Payment funding to accelerate 
three to six months of Medicare payments to eligible healthcare providers, and the 
Commercial Insurance/FEMA Public Assistance Program: Emergency Protective 
Measures for reimbursement for eligible emergency costs incurred. In addition to these 
provisions, the CARES Act also includes various other cash flow enhancement measures 
such as payroll tax deferrals and employee retention credits, among others. The System 
has and will continue to consider the provisions of the CARES Act to utilize available 
governmental funds to offset the immediate effects of the COVID-19 healthcare crisis.  
The System has evaluated subsequent events through September 30, 2020, the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, and determined that there 
are no additional items to disclose. 
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THE FULTON-DEKALB HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
d/b/a GRADY HEALTH SYSTEM 

Status of Prior Audit Findings and Questioned Costs 
For the Year Ended  
December 31, 2019 

Section IV - Schedule of Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs 

No prior year audit findings. 




